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PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

A. Abbreviated Names

Michael A. Steinberg, the Respondent, will be referred to as Mr.

Steinberg or the Respondent. The Florida Bar will be referred to as the Bar.

B. Citations to the Record

References to the Report of Referee will be cited as (ROR p. **).

References to specific pleadings will be made by Tab number in the

Index of Record, and with further information when the document is large.

(Tab **).

The transcript of the sanctions hearing will be cited as (TS. **).

The Bar provides an appendix of critical portions of the record to

facilitate review. This brief cites to the appendix as (A. **).
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NATURE OF THE CASE

Michael Steinberg seeks review of the Referee’s Report that

recommends he be found guilty of violating Rule 4-1.1 (competence), Rule

4-1.3 (diligence), Rule 4-3.4(c) (fairness to opposing party and counsel),

Rule 4-8.4(a) (misconduct), and Rule 4-8.4(d) (misconduct prejudicial to the

administration of justice). The Referee recommends a 90-day suspension.

The Bar asks this Court to approve the Referee’s recommendation.

Mr. Steinberg was suspended from practicing before the United States

Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims (“USCAVC”) for 90 days in October

2020 for misconduct in that federal court. He admitted his misconduct in the

disciplinary proceeding before that court and offered mitigating

circumstances.

The Bar filed this proceeding as a reciprocal proceeding after the

USCAVC notified it of its decision. The parties stipulated to the conduct

discussed in the earlier order and the Referee conducted only a sanction

hearing.

Despite his stipulation, Mr. Steinberg questions the Bar’s reliance on

the USCAVC order and claims that the Referee should have recommended

only a public reprimand for the five violations.
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STATEMENT OF CASE AND FACTS

Mr. Steinberg was admitted to The Florida Bar in 1982 and to the bar

of the United States Court of Appeals for Veterans Claims (USCAVC) in

1999. (ROR p. 2, 9)(TS. 12). He has primarily handled social security

disability cases and veterans’ benefits cases. (TS. 14). He currently has

about 613 pending cases. (TS. 14). Of those, 113 are at the federal

appellate level, 251 are social security cases, 236 are veterans’ claim cases,

and 14 are ERISA long-term disability cases. (TS. 14). He has handled a

handful of VA cases through the USCAVC. (TS. 15).

The Bar’s reciprocal disciplinary case pursuant to Rule 3-4.6 centers

around an October 21, 2020, order entered by a three-judge panel in the

USCAVC. (Tab 1 p. 10-17)(A. 3-10). The order finds that Mr. Steinberg

violated rules regarding competence, diligence, and professional

misconduct. (A. 4). The order details nine occasions, over a fifteen-month

period, where Mr. Steinberg failed to comply with the court’s orders and

various rules of procedure. (A. 4-6).

At the sanctions hearing in this matter, Mr. Steinberg explained that he

did not comply with court orders, in part, due to the court sending the orders

to his personal AOL address: frosty28@aol.com. (TS. 14, 26). This was the

email address he had on file with the USCAVC. (TS. 14, 26). He used the
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same AOL email address for his Florida Bar profile. (TS. 26). But this

personal email account contained thousands of emails, most of which were

junk mail. (TS. 16). Because of the large quantity of the emails in his

account, he did not see the multiple orders from the clerk of the USCAVC.

(TS. 16). He used this email on a motion to reinstate his client’s appeal after

the court had dismissed the appeal because of his failure to respond to the

court’s orders. (TS. 26).

After he failed to respond, the court sent him a paper order stating that

the court was going to dismiss the case if he did not comply with the previous

orders. (TS. 16). In the motion to reinstate—which included his AOL

address on the signature block—he advised the court that he was using a

different email address for federal court appellate work. (TS. 26). But, after

filing the motion to reinstate, he did not update his records with the USCAVC.

(TS. 26). He also did not update his Florida Bar profile to reflect an accurate

email address. (TS. 26). The orders continued to go to his AOL address.

(TS. 26). He admitted that failing to update his email address was a

“negligent” mistake on his part. (TS. 27). At the final hearing in this case,

he still had not updated his email address with the USCAVC or the Bar. (TS.

28).
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A. USCAVC’s Order Findings

The USCAVC entered an order finding Mr. Steinberg guilty of various

ethical violations based on his conduct in two separate cases. (A. 3-10).

Docket No. 18-6557

From December 2018 to January 2020, the court issued four orders

regarding Mr. Steinberg’s failure to timely respond to the court’s orders and

his failure to comply with the court’s rules of practice and procedure. (A. 4).

On December 14, 2018, the court ordered Mr. Steinberg to comply with a

governing rule that required Mr. Steinberg to submit a copy of a fee or

retainer agreement. (A. 4). Mr. Steinberg did not respond to the court’s

order. (A. 4). On February 15, 2019, the court ordered the appellant

represented by Mr. Steinberg to clarify whether he would be proceeding pro

se. (A. 4). No response was filed. (A. 4). The court dismissed the case on

March 19, 2019. (A. 4). On March 26, 2019, Mr. Steinberg filed a motion to

reinstate the case, which the court granted. (A. 4). His signature block on

this motion contained the AOL email address. (TS. 26).

On September 12, 2019, the court ordered the parties to attend a

briefing conference set for October 8, 2019. (A. 4). Opposing counsel filed

a motion to reschedule, noting that they had attempted to contact Mr.

Steinberg about his amenability of the proposed date and time but had not
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heard back. (A. 4). That motion was granted. (A. 4). The conference had

to be rescheduled for a second time because Mr. Steinberg did not comply

with the September 12, 2019 order. (A. 4).

On November 8, 2019, the court held a staff conference. (A. 5). Mr.

Steinberg failed to file his brief 30 days after that conference, as the

governing procedural rules required. (A. 5). On December 10, 2019, the

court ordered Mr. Steinberg to comply with the rules and file his brief. (A. 5).

Thirteen days later, on December 23, 2019, Mr. Steinberg filed his initial brief

and an accompanying motion to file the untimely brief late. (A. 5).

Docket No. 19-0617

The court issued five orders from February 2019 to April 2020,

including multiple orders to show cause, regarding Mr. Steinberg’s failure to

respond to court orders and failure to comply with rules of practice and

procedure. (A. 5). On February 26, 2019, the court ordered Mr. Steinberg

to comply with a specific procedural rule within fourteen days. (A. 5). This

was the same rule he was ordered to comply with in December 2018 in case

no. 18-6557. (A. 5). Mr. Steinberg did not timely respond. (A. 5). He filed

his response a month later. (A. 5).
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On August 19, 2019, the court held a staff conference. (A. 5). Mr.

Steinberg again failed to file his brief within the 30 days after the staff

conference, as required by the governing procedural rules. (A. 5). On

September 19, 2019, the court directed him to comply with the rule and file

his brief within seven days. (A. 5). Mr. Steinberg did not respond to this

order. (A. 5).

On October 24, 2019, court personnel contacted Mr. Steinberg to

discuss his failure to comply with the order. (A. 5). He submitted his brief

four days later. (A. 5). The brief did not conform to the court’s rules of

practice and procedure. (A. 5). The court issued a notice of the

nonconforming documents and stayed the proceeding for seven days to

allow Mr. Steinberg to file a conforming brief. (A. 5). He failed to do so. (A.

5). The court issued another show cause order on November 12, 2019. (A.

5). He did not respond. (A. 5-6). On March 19, 2020, the court finally

received the amended brief and a motion for leave to file the untimely brief.

(A. 6).

The following day, the court issued an order detailing Mr. Steinberg’s

conduct and requiring that he file an amended motion for leave to file his

brief. The court ordered that, within the motion for leave, he provide a

justification for his actions. (A. 6). The order also directed Mr. Steinberg to
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file a separate statement showing cause why the court should not refer him

to the court’s committee on admission and practice or otherwise sanction

him. (A. 6). Mr. Steinberg did not respond to this order. (A. 6).

On April 13, 2020, the court issued a show cause order as to why Mr.

Steinberg should not be held in contempt of court. (A. 6). Receiving no

response, the court held him in contempt on April 21, 2020. (A. 6).

USCAVC Disciplinary Proceedings

The USCAVC’s clerk of court submitted a grievance based on Mr.

Steinberg’s conduct. (A. 3). Seven days after the court held him in contempt,

it ordered him to show cause as to why the grievance should not be referred

to the court’s committee on admission and practice. (A. 3, 6). Mr. Steinberg

did not file a response. (A. 3). On July 16, 2020, the court ordered him to

show cause as to why the court should not impose a 90-day suspension and

require him to complete 6 hours of ethics-focused continuing legal education

courses. (A. 3).

On August 14, 2020, Mr. Steinberg filed his response, admitting to the

violations and offering a “mitigating statement.” (A. 3). There, he claimed

he did not see at least two orders directing him to comply with the court’s

procedural rules, and he was not able to provide good cause as to why he
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failed to comply with the rules. (A. 3). He reported that he was handling

several appeals and that it would be unfair to his clients to require them to

seek representation from another attorney. (A. 3). He requested the court

impose a fine, forfeiture of attorneys’ fees, and 6 hours of ethics focused

continuing legal education. (A. 3). Alternatively, he asked the court to delay

the suspension period until after his pending cases were resolved. (A. 3).

The court found that Mr. Steinberg violated ABA Model Rules 1.1

(competence) and 1.3 (diligence). (A. 4). By missing multiple filing

deadlines, ignoring court orders, and submitting non-conforming documents,

“Mr. Steinberg … demonstrated an inability or unwillingness to adequately

prepare his cases and to follow [the] Court’s procedures.” (A. 7).

Additionally, his “neglectful conduct” caused “undue delay,” and

demonstrates “a lack of commitment and dedication to the interests of his

clients.” (A. 7).

The court further found that Mr. Steinberg acted with “knowledge of

wrongdoing.” (A. 8). The court found three aggravating factors: a pattern of

misconduct, multiple offenses, and substantial experience in the practice of

law. (A. 8). The court found two mitigating factors: absence of a prior

disciplinary record and a presumed absence of selfish or dishonest motive.

(A. 8). The court suspended Mr. Steinberg for 90 days, beginning on October
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21, 2020. (A. 9). Additionally, the court required him to complete 6 hours of

ethics focused continuing legal education and apply for reinstatement,

should he want to be reinstated. (A. 10).

B. The Bar Proceedings

The Bar filed its formal complaint for reciprocal discipline on June 29,

2021, under Rule 3-7.1(l). (Tab 1). One of the allegations in the formal

complaint is that Mr. Steinberg did not report the order of suspension to the

Bar until April 5, 2021. (Tab 1). In his answer to the formal complaint, Mr.

Steinberg admitted that this was true. (Tab 6). Further, Mr. Steinberg

admitted that his suspension was based on the conduct enumerated in the

USCAVC’s order. (Tab 2, 6, 7). Based on Mr. Steinberg’s admissions, the

Referee found the USCAVC’s order to be conclusive proof of guilt. (ROR p.

4). The parties proceeded to a sanction hearing only. At the sanction

hearing, Mr. Steinberg presented character testimony from seven witnesses,

all of whom were either employees, family members, or both. (TS. 33, 39,

43, 49, 55, 59).

Mr. Steinberg did not report his suspension until April 5, 2021. (ROR

p. 4). The Bar, however, had received the order of suspension on February

17, 2021. (ROR p. 4). At the sanctions hearing, Mr. Steinberg stated that
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he reported his suspension to the Federal Circuit, Northern, Middle, and

Southern District Courts of Florida, as well as the Eleventh Circuit. (TS. 80).

He did not provide a copy of those reports.

The Referee recommends Mr. Steinberg be found guilty of violating

Rule 4-1.1 (competence), Rule 4-1.3 (diligence), Rule 4-3.4(c) (fairness to

opposing party and counsel), Rule 4-8.4(a) (misconduct – a lawyer shall not

violate or attempt to violate the Rules of Professional Conduct), and Rule 4-

8.4(d) (misconduct – a lawyer shall not engage in conduct in connection with

the practice of law that is prejudicial to the administration of justice). (ROR

p. 4).

The Referee found and considered three aggravating factors: (1) a

pattern of misconduct, (2) multiple offenses, and (3) substantial experience

in the practice of law. (ROR p. 5-6). The Referee found and considered

three mitigating factors: (1) full and free disclosure to the Bar or cooperative

attitude toward the proceedings, (2) character or reputation, and (3)

imposition of other penalties or sanctions. (ROR p. 6). The Referee did not

find the absence of a prior disciplinary record because Mr. Steinberg

admitted that he was admonished for minor misconduct in 2004. (TS. 31).

The Referee recommended this Court impose a 90-day suspension

and require Mr. Steinberg to attend ethics school. (ROR p. 9). The Report



of Referee also recommended that the Bar receive payment of its costs.

(ROR p. 9).

12
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SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

This is a simple reciprocal discipline case where the USCAVC found

Mr. Steinberg guilty of violating multiple rules. He did not contest the

violations in that court. By operation of Rule 3-4.6, the order, dated October

21, 2020, is considered as conclusive proof of such misconduct in this

disciplinary proceeding. But as a practical matter, the violations in that court

and in this court are conceded by Mr. Steinberg. This is not a case where

the out-of-state court made findings of fact on disputed evidence.

Over a period of fifteen months, Mr. Steinberg failed to respond to

eleven different court orders, the majority of which were orders to show

cause. In one case, the client’s case was dismissed, and Mr. Steinberg had

to file a motion to reinstate the case. On his motion to reinstate, Mr.

Steinberg used his personal email address that he did not diligently monitor

but kept on file with the USCAVC and the Bar. Because of this, Mr.

Steinberg missed additional court orders. In one case, this resulted in a near

6-month delay in the client’s case. The client, unfortunately, passed away

before the resolution of the appeal. Mr. Steinberg did not report the

USCAVC’s suspension order to the Bar until April 5, 2021.

Despite his stipulations before the Referee, and his admission in this

review that discipline is warranted, Mr. Steinberg questions the use of the
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USCAVC’s order in this reciprocal discipline case. The USCAVC is clearly

a federal court established by federal law. It requires lawyers to apply and

become members of its bar. It has disciplinary rules comparable to Florida

and it has an established process that provides ample due process in its

disciplinary proceedings. The USCAVC is “a court” of “another jurisdiction,

state or federal,” that requires lawyers to become licensed members of its

bar in order to practice in that jurisdiction. Its three-judge written decision

explaining the violations in detail is clearly entitled to be used in a disciplinary

proceeding under Rule 3-4.6.

Mr. Steinberg further argues that only one aggravating factor applies

to his case and additional mitigating facts exist. Although he raises

sympathetic arguments, especially regarding his clients, he has already

withdrawn from a majority of his client’s cases and his sister is currently

managing the law firm. It appears that his clients’ interests have already

been addressed and there are safeguards in place to protect his clients’

rights. As such, Mr. Steinberg’s arguments that his sanction should be

tempered because of the potential injury to clients is not a factor in this case.

The Referee’s recommendation of a non-rehabilitative 90-day suspension is

supported by the Standards and the case law and it should not be second-

guessed.
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THE DECISION-MAKING PROCESS FOR THE GUILT PHASE OF A

DISCIPLINARY PROCEEDING

This is an original proceeding filed under this Court’s exclusive

jurisdiction to “to regulate the admission of persons to the practice of law and

the discipline of persons admitted.” Art. V, §15, Fla. Const. “Standards of

review” used to evaluate a trial court’s final judgment do not apply here.

It is also a reciprocal violation proceeding in which Mr. Steinberg did

not contest the violations. As a result, the actual finding of fact are limited to

those at the sanction hearing. The only witnesses were character witnesses

who were related to or worked for Mr. Steinberg.

1. Findings of Fact

As this Court explained in The Florida Bar v. Picon, 205 So. 3d 759,

764 (Fla. 2016): “This Court's review of a referee's findings of fact is limited.

If a referee's findings of fact are supported by competent, substantial

evidence in the record, this Court will not reweigh the evidence and substitute

its judgment for that of the referee. The Florida Bar v. Frederick, 756 So. 2d

79, 86 (Fla. 2000).” See also The Florida Bar v. Schwartz, 284 So. 3d 393,

396 (Fla. 2019); The Florida Bar v. Parrish, 241 So. 3d 66, 72 (Fla. 2018);

The Florida Bar v. Vining, 721 So. 2d 1164, 1167 (Fla. 1998); The Florida
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Bar v. Jordan, 705 So. 2d 1387, 1390 (Fla. 1998); The Florida Bar v. Spann,

682 So. 2d 1070, 1073 (Fla. 1996).

3. Recommendation of Discipline

The Referee’s recommendation of discipline is subjected to greater

review by this Court because of this Court’s ultimate responsibility to make

that decision:

In reviewing a referee’s recommended discipline, this Court’s

scope of review is broader than that afforded to the referee’s

findings of fact because, ultimately, it is the Court’s responsibility

to order the appropriate sanction. See The Florida Bar v. Picon,

205 So. 3d 759, 765 (Fla. 2016) (citing The Florida Bar v.

Anderson, 538 So. 2d 852, 854 (Fla. 1989)). At the same time,

this Court will generally not second-guess the referee’s

recommended discipline, as long as it has a reasonable basis in

existing case law and the standards. See The Florida Bar v.

Alters, 260 So. 3d 72, 83 (Fla. 2018); The Florida Bar v. De La

Torre, 994 So. 2d 1032 (Fla. 2008).

The Florida Bar v. Altman, 294 So. 3d 844, 847 (Fla. 2020).

It is also important to consider that this Court has given notice to the

members of the Bar that it is moving toward harsher sanctions than in the

past. See The Florida Bar v. Rosenberg, 169 So. 3d 1155, 1162 (Fla. 2015).

In Rosenberg, this Court explained that since the decision in The Florida Bar

v. Bloom, 632 So. 2d 1016 (Fla. 1994), the Court has moved toward imposing
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stricter sanctions for unethical and unprofessional conduct. See also Altman

at 847. As a result, case law prior to 2015 needs to be examined carefully

to make certain that the application of sanctions in these earlier cases

comports with current standards.

4. Consideration of Mitigating and Aggravating Factors – Both
as Findings of Fact and as a Mixed Question of Law and Fact
during the Decision to Select the Appropriate Sanction.

A Referee’s findings on mitigating and aggravating factors are treated

essentially like any other finding of fact:

[A] referee's findings of fact carry a presumption of correctness

that should be upheld unless clearly erroneous or without support

in the record. See The Florida Bar v. Summers, 728 So. 2d 739,

741 (Fla. 1999). This standard applies in reviewing a referee's

findings of mitigation and aggravation. See, e.g., The Florida Bar

v. Wolis, 783 So. 2d 1057, 1059 (Fla. 2001); The Florida Bar v.

Hecker, 475 So. 2d 1240, 1242 (Fla. 1985).

The Florida Bar v. Arcia, 848 So. 2d 296, 299 (Fla. 2003).

“[A] referee's findings of mitigation and aggravation carry a

presumption of correctness and will be upheld unless clearly erroneous or

without support in the record.” The Florida Bar v. Germain, 957 So. 2d 613,

621 (Fla. 2007). The burden of demonstrating that the findings in

aggravation or mitigation are clearly erroneous lies with the party challenging

the findings. See The Florida Bar v. Glick, 693 So. 2d 550, 552 (Fla. 1997)
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(holding that the burden of disproving a referee's findings of fact or

recommendations as to guilt is upon the party challenging those findings).

The Florida Bar v. Marcellus, 249 So. 3d 538, 544 (Fla. 2018).

Once the factors of mitigation and aggravation are found to exist, they

are applied to “justify” an increase or a decrease in the “degree of discipline

to be imposed.” Florida Standards 3.2(a), 3.3(a). This process of balancing

the positive and negative factors is a mixed question of fact and law. It is

part of the ultimate decision to impose a sanction.
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ARGUMENT

I. The Disciplinary Order of the U.S. Court of Appeals for Veterans

Claims is entitled to be treated as conclusive proof because it is

a “final adjudication” by a court.

Mr. Steinberg admitted the violations charged against him by the

USCAVC in the proceedings before that court. (Tab 6-7). That court found

that he violated ABA Model Rule 1.1 (Competence), Rule 1.3 (Diligence),

and also committed professional misconduct as defined in that court’s Rules

of Admission and Practice. (A. 37-62). In his brief to this Court he states:

“The Respondent has not contested the claim of the Bar that discipline is

warranted.” (IB 21).

But on pages 22 to 26 of his initial brief, he nevertheless argues that

the order of the USCAVC either should not be treated as conclusive proof of

the offenses he admitted in that court, or that its sanction should not be given

“great weight” because it “is not the type of entity whose primary purpose is

to ensure the qualifications, supervision or regulation of lawyers.” (IB 25).

He at least implies that it must be a court defined in 28 U.S.C. section 451.

All of these arguments are without merit.

The USCAVC was created under Article I of the Constitution by the

Veterans’ Judicial Review Act of 1988. 38 U.S.C. § 7251. It has exclusive

jurisdiction to review decisions of the Board of Veterans’ Appeals. 38 U.S.C.
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§ 7252. Looking first at the USCAVC itself, that court has extensive, formal

“Rules of Admission and Practice.” (A. 37-62). Rule 2 creates a “Committee

on Admission and Practice,” which addresses disciplinary issues. (A. 41-

45). Rule 4 adopts the ABA Model Rules of Professional Conduct as the

disciplinary standards for the Court. (A. 46). Thus, the Rules of Professional

Conduct in that court and in Florida derive from the same source and are

very similar.

The order issued by the three-judge panel sanctioning Mr. Steinberg is

a formal order, comparable to the decisions of this Court with the exception

that referees are not utilized in the decision-making process under that

court’s Rule 6. A preliminary version of the discipline order was actually

given to Mr. Steinberg to allow him to file a pre-publication motion for

reconsideration. (A. 9). He did not file such a motion.

Rule 46 of the USCAVC Rules of Practice and Procedure provides the

requirements for lawyers seeking admission to the bar of the Court. (A. 31).

That rule provides in part:

(A) General. A person of good moral character and repute who

has been admitted to practice in the highest court of any state,

the District of Columbia, or a United States territory or

commonwealth within the meaning of 48 U.S.C. § 1904(e)(5),

and is in good standing therein, may be admitted to the bar of the

Court upon application. See Rules of Admission and Practice.
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Although the rules do allow for some non-attorneys to practice, they

must be under the direct supervision of an attorney who is admitted to the

bar of the Court or “employed by an organization chartered by Congress”

and “recognized by the Secretary of Veterans Affairs for claims

representation.” That organization’s CEO must certify the non-lawyer’s

proficiency. Both attorneys and non-attorneys as “practitioners,” are subject

to the Court’s Rules of Professional Conduct. Compare id., with Stanley v.

Ligon, 285 S.W.3d 649, 654 n.4 (Ark. 2008)(finding that representation

before the Social Security Administration and Department of Veterans Affairs

as agencies, and not in the judicial review process of agency decisions, is

not the practice of law or the regulation of the practice of law).

The USCAVC itself has a rule imposing reciprocal discipline when a

practitioner has been disciplined “by another court or governmental entity.”

It has invoked that rule to sanction a member of its bar for misconduct

occurring in Virginia. In re Morton, 19 Vet. App. 158, 158 (Vet. App. 2005).

Thus, the USCAVC is very much a federal court that has rules

comparable to Florida and it has an established system providing ample due

process for assuring the qualifications, supervision, and regulation of the

lawyers that practice before that court.



22

Turning to the Florida rules, Mr. Steinberg claims that the Florida Rules

of Professional Conduct provide that the findings of another court are

conclusive only if the discipline is “by a state bar or federal court.” (IB 22).

But Rule 3-4.6(a) actually states:

(A) Disciplinary Authority. A lawyer admitted to practice in this

jurisdiction is subject to the disciplinary authority of this

jurisdiction, regardless of where the lawyer’s conduct occurs. A

lawyer may be subject to the disciplinary authority of both this

jurisdiction and another jurisdiction for the same conduct. A final

adjudication in a disciplinary proceeding by a court or other

authorized disciplinary agency of another jurisdiction, state or

federal, that a lawyer licensed to practice in that jurisdiction is

guilty of misconduct justifying disciplinary action will be

considered as conclusive proof of the misconduct in a

disciplinary proceeding under this rule.

The rule allows for discipline based on a “final adjudication” of “a court

. . . of another jurisdiction, state or federal” when the lawyer is licensed in the

jurisdiction of that court. Mr. Steinberg voluntarily applied for and was

admitted to the bar of the USCAVC in order to be licensed in that jurisdiction.

The formal order of that court is a final adjudication of a disciplinary

proceeding in which he admitted his guilt. While the findings of that court

order are conclusive proof of misconduct for purposes of this proceeding, it

seems quite odd that Mr. Steinberg would suggest otherwise given that he

admitted guilt in that proceeding.
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Mr. Steinberg derives his argument about the definition of federal

courts in 28 U.S.C. section 451 from the more specific language in the bar

rules applicable to the District of Columbia. A more careful read of those

rules establishes that the “disciplining court” can be “any other agency,

commission, or tribunal.” There is actually a District of Columbia Court of

Appeals decision imposing reciprocal discipline indirectly based on a final

adjudication of the USCAVC. That decision imposes reciprocal discipline

based on an order from the Supreme Court of Missouri; that court in turn

based its decision on a public reprimand by the USCAVC. See In re Bailey,

759 A.2d 1076, 1076-77 (D.C. Ct. App. 2000).

As a practical matter, the violations Mr. Steinberg admitted in the

USCAVC proceeding and his admissions in this proceeding are proof of

these violations independent of the order from the USCAVC. See In re

Hoffman, 714 S.E.2d 285, 286 (S.C. 2011)(state discipline proceeding based

on misconduct in the USCAVC without reliance on the reciprocity of a final

order of discipline). The status of the USCAVC as a federal court is really

not an issue that is determinative of guilt in this review.
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II. The Referee’s recommended 90-day, non-rehabilitative

suspension is based on the Standards and the case law.

In his initial brief, Mr. Steinberg argues that a suspension under these

circumstances is “extremely harsh and inconsistent with the guidelines for

sanctioning attorneys.” (IB 37). He, instead, asks this Court to impose a

public reprimand. The Bar submits that the Referee’s recommended

sanction of a 90-day suspension is supported by the Standards and the

caselaw.

Standards

The Referee found three Standards to apply to this case: Standard

6.2, Standard 4.4, and a comment to Standard 2.9. (ROR p. 5-7). Standard

6.2(b) provides:

6.2 Abuse of the Legal Process

… the following sanctions are generally appropriate in cases

involving a failure to expedite litigation or bring a meritorious

claim, or failure to obey any obligations under the rules of a

tribunal …

(b) Suspension. Suspension is appropriate when a lawyer

knowingly violates a court order or rule and causes injury or

potential injury to a client or a party or causes interference or

potential inference with a legal proceeding.
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The USCAVC found that Mr. Steinberg acted with “knowledge of

wrongdoing,” partly because of his pattern of misconduct and his failure to

heed the court’s repeated warnings. (A. 8). He failed to respond to nine

court orders over fifteen months. (A. 7). One of those orders was an order

to show cause as to why he should not be held in contempt. It was only after

the court held Mr. Steinberg in contempt and issued an order to show cause

why the court should not impose a 90-day suspension that he responded to

the various disciplinary orders the USCAVC issued. (A. 3).

The Bar submits that Mr. Steinberg’s failure to monitor his personal

email account, the same email account he used on at least one motion for

reinstatement, further contributes to Mr. Steinberg’s knowing violation of the

USCAVC’s orders. After signing a motion for reinstatement, which was

brought on, in part, by using his AOL email address and failing to monitor

that account, he did not even update his email address with the USCAVC or

the Bar. He admitted that he had yet to update his email address with either

entity at the final hearing. He had actual knowledge that the folder for his

AOL email address included so much junk that he could not find the

important matters that he needed to address for his client—but even with the

filing of his brief in this case he is still using that address.
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Mr. Steinberg claims he failed to respond to the court orders because

the court had an incorrect email address on file, but upon discovering this,

he failed to update his contact information with the correct email and

continued to use that same email address for the service of legal documents.

On issue of competence and diligence, his continued use for years of an

email address that contributed to these violations is simply hard to

understand.

Mr. Steinberg claims that his conduct did not cause injury to either of

his clients and was not intentional. (IB 18, 20-21). But, his conduct caused

one client’s brief to be delayed for almost two months. His other client’s brief

was delayed six months, and the client actually died during the pendency of

the appeal. (IB 18). These delays caused the clients’ cases to span longer

than necessary. And, even if significant delays in a client’s case did not

cause some injury, it had the potential to cause significant injury to the client.

Standard 6.2 (b) supports the recommended 90-day suspension.

Standard 4.4(b) provides that suspension is appropriate in cases

involving a failure to act with reasonable diligence and promptness in

representing a client when:

a lawyer causes injury or potential injury to a client and:

(1) knowingly fails to perform services for a client; or



27

(2) engages in a pattern of neglect with respect to client matters.

Mr. Steinberg failed to respond to nine different court orders, including

orders to show cause. In one case he failed to respond to four separate

court orders. In another case he failed to respond to five separate court

orders. Then, in his disciplinary proceeding before the USCAVC, he failed

to respond on two occasions, one of which resulted in the court holding Mr.

Steinberg in contempt. The Bar submits that this is a pattern of neglect under

this Standard.

As previously mentioned, Mr. Steinberg’s actions actually delayed his

clients’ appeals. These delays injured his clients and, even if they did not,

they had the potential to injure his clients. This Standard supports the

Referee’s recommended sanction of a 90-day suspension.

The Referee also relied on the comment to Standard 2.9 on Reciprocal

Discipline: “Public confidence in the profession is enhanced when lawyers

who are admitted in more than 1 jurisdiction are prevented from avoiding the

effect of discipline in 1 jurisdiction by practicing in another.” See Cmt. Fla.

Standards for Imposing Lawyer Sanctions 2.9. This comment is

straightforward. The USCAVC suspended Mr. Steinberg for 90 days for his

conduct. His practice before the USCAVC is relatively small; he has only
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had a handful of cases—approximately 28—during all the years he was

licensed in that court. (TS. 15)(IB 13-15). Put differently, the majority of his

practice is not in front of the USCAVC. Thus, he could avoid much of the

effect of the discipline by continuing his other practice areas. The Bar

submits that the Standards support a 90-day suspension in this case.

Caselaw

In his initial brief, Mr. Steinberg cites multiple cases supporting his

argument for a public reprimand. (IB 26-36). These cases are easily

distinguishable. First, most of the cases he cites are either uncontested

reports of referee that this Court adopted or they are consent judgments.

See The Florida Bar v. Wilkins, Case No. 18-689 (adopting an uncontested

report of referee); The Florida Bar v. Jenkins, Case No. 17-1962 (same); The

Florida Bar v. McHardy, Case No. 16-1747 (same); The Florida Bar v.

Hampton, Case No. 16-2282 (same); The Florida Bar v. Carey, Case No. 15-

1986 (same); The Florida Bar v. Battisti, Case No. 16-2212 (consent

judgment). These are cases where the lawyer’s cooperation with the

process was much more complete than Mr. Steinberg’s.

While these cases may be persuasive, they are not similar. These

cases involve attorneys who: failed to respond to client’s requests for status
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updates, filed a complaint on a client’s behalf but did not take any further

action, or failed to withdraw from the client’s case after the client terminated

representation. In contrast, Mr. Steinberg failed to respond to multiple court

orders, including orders to show cause. Also, some of these cases had

significant mitigating factors or no aggravating factors. Thus, the balance of

the aggravating and mitigating factors was different in these cases.

Mr. Steinberg also relies on The Florida Bar v. Lewis, Case No. 18-

574. In that case, Mr. Lewis filed a notice of appeal, but failed to file an initial

brief. The appeal was dismissed, and Mr. Lewis failed to notify his client, an

inmate, of the same. Eventually, Mr. Lewis’ former client filed a petition for

writ of habeas corpus and the Third District Court of Appeal allowed the

former client to pursue his appellate remedies. In that case, Mr. Lewis did

not contest the Referee’s report. This case is different. Mr. Steinberg did

not fail to respond to just one order nor did he fail to timely file one initial

brief. Mr. Steinberg failed to respond to nine different court orders relating

to his client’s cases, two orders relating to his disciplinary case before the

USCAVC, and failed to timely file two separate briefs. The Bar submits that

Mr. Steinberg’s conduct is distinguishable from Lewis.

Mr. Steinberg also relies on The Florida Bar v. Kuchinsky, Case No.

03-1744. In that case, Mr. Kuchinsky failed to timely file an answer brief and
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failed to communicate with his client. Mr. Kuchinsky was suspended for 60

days. The Bar submits that Mr. Steinberg’s conduct is more similar to the

conduct in Kuchinsky.

Aggravating and mitigating factors

In his initial brief, Mr. Steinberg states categorically that “[t]here are no

aggravating factors other than Respondent is an experienced attorney.” (IB

25-26). But this is not true. The Referee found that two additional

aggravating factors applied to this case: (1) a pattern of misconduct and (2)

multiple offenses.

As discussed earlier, Mr. Steinberg’s misconduct occurred in two

separate cases over fifteen months. Within those fifteen months, Mr.

Steinberg failed to respond to nine court orders and two court orders relating

to his disciplinary proceedings before the USCAVC. The Bar submits that

the Referee properly applied the aggravating factors of a pattern of

misconduct and multiple offenses.

Mr. Steinberg does not challenge the Referee’s decision to apply only

three mitigating factors: full and free disclosure and cooperative attitude,

character and reputation, and imposition of other sanctions. It is noteworthy

that Mr. Steinberg began his cooperation only after the USCAVC reported its
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order to the Bar. Because his practice was primarily in other areas, the other

sanction was not a significant penalty for Mr. Steinberg. The Referee

declined to find an absence of prior discipline because Mr. Steinberg was

admonished for minor misconduct in 2004. (TS. 31).

In his initial brief, Mr. Steinberg argues that his misconduct should be

considered in conjunction with his overall practice. In doing so it shows that

his misconduct is limited to two isolated incidences and not a pattern. The

Bar is not claiming that his misconduct is sufficiently repetitive as to warrant

a rehabilitative suspension. But the fact that he never bothered to fix the

email mail issue that created these problems is very troublesome. Mr.

Steinberg failed to respond to eleven court orders. It is difficult to say that

eleven failures is not a pattern of misconduct.

Under the three purposes of lawyer regulation announced in The

Florida Bar v. Pahules, 233 So. 2d 130, 132 (Fla. 1970):

1. The judgment must be fair to society, both in terms of protecting

the public from unethical conduct and at the same time not denying the public

the services of a qualified lawyer as a result of undue harshness in imposing

a penalty.
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2. The judgment must be fair to the respondent, being sufficient to

punish a breach of ethics and at the same time encourage reformation and

rehabilitation.

3. The judgment must be severe enough to deter others who might

be prone or tempted to become involved in like violations.

The Bar submits that it is fair to society to protect society from a lawyer

who fails to respond to numerous court orders that results in the lawyer’s

untimely filing of court documents. Mr. Steinberg argues that being

suspended for a short period of time would have a “devastating impact” on

himself, his employees, and his clients. (IB 21). He states he has hundreds

of clients awaiting hearings and has dozens of appeals pending. (IB 21).

However, he has “already withdrawn from almost [sic] of the cases which he

had been handling, and has taken tentative steps to transfer ownership of

the law firm.” (IB 37). As the Referee recognized at the final hearing, while

this is a “sympathetic” argument, suspensions “can have unintentional

impact on other attorneys in office and clients. But it is the result of the

misconduct, not the suspension.” (TS. 69).

Further, the Referee correctly pointed out that this Court has not

historically relied on the suspension’s impact on clients to deviate from the

appropriate sanction that is supported by the standards and case law. (TS.



33

69). Moreover, Mr. Steinberg has represented that he has already withdrawn

from most of his cases. His character witnesses establish that he has family

members who are licensed attorneys who practice with him. As such, his

clients will not be so negatively impacted as to require a lesser sanction.

Hopefully, the sanction will cause Mr. Steinberg to be better prepared to give

full attention to the cases of those clients.

As unfortunate as it may be that Mr. Steinberg has been suspended

for longer than expected, he failed to report his suspension to the Bar

immediately. Instead, he waited nearly six months to inform the Bar of his

suspension. Thus, he could have reported the suspension immediately so

that any sanction from this Court would begin and end around the time of his

suspension from the USCAVC. But, he did not do so.

A 90-day suspension is fair to Mr. Steinberg. He is not contesting that

he violated the various Rules Regulating the Florida Bar, and he is not really

contesting the findings of the USCAVC. The Bar submits that a suspension

would adequately deter other attorneys from failing to respond to multiple

court orders.
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CONCLUSION

This Court should accept the Referee’s findings of fact and

recommendations of guilt. It should approve the Referee’s recommendation

for a 90-day suspension. The Court should impose the costs recommended

by the Referee.
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